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Chronology


JUNE 5, 1968


Senator Robert Kennedy is assassinated in Los Angeles.


JULY 25–27


First party for “The Boiler Room” is held in Hyannis Port and Nantucket.


JULY 18–19, 1969


Senator Edward Kennedy’s car plunges off Dike Bridge on Chappaquiddick Island. A passenger, Mary Jo Kopechne, is killed.


JULY 19


At approximately 9:45 a.m., Senator Kennedy gives a statement to Edgartown Police


Chief Dominick James Arena saying he had, at 11:15 p.m. the previous evening, taken a wrong turn en route to the ferry landing on Chappaquiddick and gone off Dike Bridge. He had escaped the accident car and returned to his hotel room. He had contacted police when he “fully realized” what had happened almost ten hours later.


JULY 22


Mary Jo Kopechne is buried in Plymouth, Pennsylvania.


JULY 25


Senator Kennedy pleads guilty to leaving the scene of an accident and is given a two month suspended sentence and a year probation by Edgartown District Court Judge James A. Boyle.


JULY 25, 1969


At 7 p.m., Senator Kennedy describes the accident in a nationally-televised speech. He characterizes his conduct in not going to police sooner a “indefensible” and asks the voters of Massachusetts to advise him about whether to resign from the Senate.


JULY 31


Senator Kennedy returns to Washington to resume his Senate duties.


JULY 32


District Attorney Edmund S. Dinis requests an inquest into the death of Mary Jo Kopechne.


AUGUST 8


Judge Boyle sets an inquest for September 3, 1969.


AUGUST 27


At a pre-inquest hearing, Judge Boyle allows the press to cover the inquest, but no lawyers will be allowed to cross-examine witnesses.


SEPTEMBER 2


Senator Kennedy’s lawyers ask for a temporary inquest injunction from the Massachusetts Supreme Judicial Court.


SEPTEMBER 18


In a Petition for Exhumation and Autopsy of Mary Jo Kopechne’s body, district attorney Dinis claims blood was seen in her mouth and nose.


SEPTEMBER 24


Mr. and Mrs. Joseph Kopechne file a petition to bar the autopsy.


OCTOBER 20–21


Judge Bernard C. Brominski of Wilkes-Barre, Pennsylvania, presides at a hearing on the exhumation and autopsy petition.


OCTOBER 30


The Massachusetts Supreme Judicial Court orders the press and the public barred from the Kopechne inquest and orders inquest documents impounded until after all possibility of prosecution against Senator Kennedy is ended.


DECEMBER 10


Judge Brominski denies the exhumation and autopsy petition.


DECEMBER 11


Judge Boyle sets January 5, 1970, for the Kopechne inquest.


JANUARY 5–8, 1970


Senator Kennedy and 26 other witnesses testify at a secret inquest at Edgartown.


FEBRUARY 18


Judge Boyle files his report and the transcript of inquest testimony with Edgartown Superior Court clerk. The documents are brought to Boston Superior Courthouse for safekeeping.


MARCH 10


Dinis examines Boyle’s report.


MARCH 17


Leslie H. Leland, Edgartown grand jury foreman, requests a special session to be reconvened in order to investigate the death of Mary Jo Kopechne.


MARCH 26


Chief Justice Joseph G. Tauro of the Superior Court calls a special session of the court to convene April 6 in Edgartown for the grand jury to hear evidence in the Chappaquiddick case.


APRIL 6–7


The grand jury calls four witnesses and returns no indictments. District Attorney Dinis says, “The case is closed,” and inquest documents can now be made public.


APRIL 29


Inquest documents are released to the public.


MAY 14


The results of a secret registry of motor vehicles hearing finds Senator Kennedy to have been speeding and to be “at serious fault” in the accident.


NOVEMBER 4


Senator Kennedy is re-elected to the Senate.


NOVEMBER 27


Kennedy takes a driver’s test in Plymouth, Massachusetts, and his license is reinstated.
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Foreword


by Howie Carr


If anyone ever truly deserved a Profiles in Courage Award, it was the late Leo Damore, the author of this book.


Of course, the awards are handed out by the Kennedy family, and they are all about, not courage, but Political Correctness. But no one can dispute the fact that Damore put himself and his career on the line to write this book, and that one way or another, he paid the ultimate price—as a suicide, in 1995, at the age of 65.


Senatorial Privilege: The Chappaquiddick Cover-Up was a New York Times best seller in 1988. It sold more than a million copies. Damore’s volume established a little-known publishing house, Regnery, as a major force in the book trade. Its success also disproved what New York publishers had long believed, or perhaps just hoped, that there was no real market out there for books that spoke, really spoke, truth to liberal power.


If you are just now discovering Senatorial Privilege, you may not be aware of the controversy that surrounded its initial publication. Damore seemed a most unlikely person to blow the lid off the Chappaquiddick cover up. Born in Ontario, he was a reporter for the Cape Cod Times. His first book, in 1967, had been a standard post-JFK assassination hagiography, The Cape Cod Years of John Fitzgerald Kennedy.


In the final scene of Cape Cod Years, JFK returns to Boston for the final time, in October 1963, for a major black-tie fundraiser with the Democrat governors of New England. As Damore told the story, after the dinner a Hyannis housepainter named Fred Caouette approached the president and was “brusquely challenged” by a Secret Service agent.


Then JFK spots his humble Cape neighbor and yells to the agent, “Let the little guy through!” Shaking Cauouette’s hand, the president says, “Freddy, it’s awfully nice to see you,” and finally tells him, “I’ll see you next year.”


That’s the way all Kennedy books were written back then, even by Leo Damore. Little did Damore or anyone else know that earlier that evening, the tuxedoed president had summoned Mimi Alford, the intern he had deflowered in the White House a year earlier at the age of 19, to his suite at the Sheraton Plaza, where he ordered her to fellate his younger brother Teddy.


“You’ve got to be kidding, Mr. President,” she recalled herself replying in her 2012 memoir.


Damore got a $150,000 advance from Random House, and he spent years digging up the truth. His most important source would be Joe Gargan, Teddy’s first cousin who rented the cottage that evening. Like Michael Skakel, the convicted murderer in the next generation, Gargan was a kinsman, but not really a Kennedy. And like Skakel, in his fury against his mistreatment by the family, Gargan would eventually spill the beans.


The most explosive charge in Senatorial Privilege came from Gargan. After the accident, and the repeated rescue attempts of Mary Jo by Kennedy, Gargan and former US attorney Paul Markham, Teddy floated an alternative story:


“Why couldn’t Mary Jo have been driving the car? Why couldn’t she have left me off, and driven to the ferry herself and made a wrong turn?”


To which Gargan eventually responded: “You told me you were driving.”


When Damore handed in his manuscript to Random House, all hell broke loose. This was the home, after all, of William Faulkner, Andre Malraux and Robert Penn Warren, not to mention Babar the Elephant. Imagine the reaction of the Random House editors as they read Damore’s account of the court hearing in Pennsylvania on the exhumation of Kopechne’s body, as the state medical examiner of Maryland blurted out a very inconvenient truth:


“It was apparent to me from the record that she lived for a certain time underwater . . . So she breathed, that girl. She breathed!”


You just couldn’t write things like that about the Kennedys back then. Seldom was heard a discouraging word about America’s First Family. Even the biggest names in journalism were muzzled, like James “Scotty” Reston, the columnist for the New York Times who owned a little paper on Martha’s Vineyard. Reston was there at the police station in Edgartown that Saturday morning as Teddy shakily wrote out the accident report. Damore quoted Scotty in his manuscript:


“I’d love to tell the story but they won’t let me.”


If it came down to a fight with the Kennedys, Random House couldn’t win. In 1967, Jackie Kennedy had tried to stop publication of another, much more innocuous book, The Death of a President.


Jackie famously told the author, “Anybody who is against me will look like a rat unless I run off with Eddie Fisher.”


In retrospect, Damore was lucky to have found any publisher willing to stand up to the wrath of the Kennedys. When it was finally published by Regnery, Senatorial Privilege was ignored by the critics, but Damore’s expose was so thorough and so damning that even with no publicity, it still skyrocketed to the top of the best-seller lists.


But then, Chappaquiddick was a scandal for the ages, even by Kennedy standards.


Mary Jo Kopechne, for instance—everything about her screamed Kennedy girlfriend. She wasn’t wearing underwear when she died, and she was drunk—her blood-alcohol level was .09. Her first boss in Washington was Sen. George Smathers of Florida, JFK’s best friend in Congress, who used to travel with the future president to Havana in those pre-Castro days, where they were treated to the finest prostitutes in Cuba, compliments of gangsters Meyer Lansky and Santo Trafficante Jr.


In Washington, Kopechne’s landlord was Bobby Baker, the longtime bagman for, among others, Lyndon Johnson. Baker also ran a private DC “club” which offered the services of high-priced hookers, among them Ellen Rometsch, a suspected East German spy who was being investigated by a Senate committee for her relationship with JFK when she was suddenly deported in 1963.


The Kennedys may not have been able to stop publication of Senatorial Privilege, but revenge, as they say, is a dish best served cold. And after those first few big royalty checks, nothing was ever the same for Damore. As his wife divorced him, he fell into a deep depression and began threatening suicide. At the same time, Damore also started research on a new book about Mary Pinchot Meyer, one of JFK’s last blue-blooded girlfriends.


Meyer was the drop-dead gorgeous sister-in-law of Ben Bradlee, later of the Washington Post. Bradlee was so close to JFK that in 1962 he was given the assignment of using his magazine, Newsweek, to spike the scandalous true story of Kennedy’s first marriage, to a twice-divorced Protestant socialite in Palm Beach in 1947.


Meyer was another fascinating subject—during her affair with JFK, she got into drugs, and had begun visiting LSD guru Dr. Timothy Leary just before the assassination. Less than a year after Dallas, she was mysteriously shot to death while jogging on a canal path in Georgetown.


An obviously innocent young black man was arrested and charged, and then acquitted. The evening of her murder, Meyer’s brother-in-law Bradlee went to her house to retrieve her secret diary about the affair with JFK. Inside, in the dark, Bradlee discovered that another intruder had gotten there first—James Jesus Angleton, the legendary CIA spook, who had his own sneaky eyes-only reasons for wanting the diary of the late president’s paramour.


In short, Leo Damore had emerged from one Kennedy rabbit hole only to tumble into another, perhaps even deeper one. One of Meyer’s biographers quoted Damore as telling him:


“What do you think it would do to the beatification of Kennedy if this woman said, ‘It wasn’t Camelot, it was Caligula’s court.’”


I met Damore in 1994, on the 25th anniversary of Chappaquiddick. I was doing my radio show from the cottage on Chappaquiddick, and I booked some of the surviving principals. Only Damore asked for money—$100. Every time I spoke to him, he seemed nervous, agitated. The day after the show he telephoned again, begging me to send him the money ASAP, which I did.


Fifteen months later, Damore was depressed and broke, about to be evicted from his rented house in Essex CT. As a visiting nurse and a constable (who was there to serve the eviction notice) looked on in horror, Damore pulled out a gun and shot himself in the head.


Ted Kennedy died of brain cancer in 2009, at the age of 77. In his later years, it was considered bad form to even mention Chappaquiddick in polite company. Teddy himself seemed oblivious to the scandal—he named his last dog Splash.


The Kennedys’ official fanzine has always been the Boston Globe. Every sixth year, when he was running for reelection, the Globe would run stories about how Teddy was “turning his life around,” and how in an amazing feat of self-discipline, he had totally sworn off alcohol until his birthday—Feb. 22. On the day after Chappaquiddick, the Globe ran a front-page headline saying “Senator Wandered in Daze for Hours.”


In 2003 the Globe perfectly summed up the mainstream media’s revisionist take on Chappaquiddick:


“If she had lived, Mary Jo Kopechne would be 62 years old. Through his tireless work as a legislator, Edward Kennedy would have brought comfort to her in her old age.”


In 2015, the Edward M. Kennedy Institute for the Senate opened in Dorchester. One of its exhibits is entitled “the Senate Immersion Module.” Immersion—you can’t make this stuff up.


Near the end of his life, in 2009, Teddy wrote a sorrowful letter to Pope Benedict XVI:


“I have always tried to be a faithful Catholic, Your Holiness, though I have fallen short through human failings . . . I know that I have been an imperfect human being but with the help of my faith, I have tried to right my path.”


Then he added, in a somewhat incongruous attempt at penance, “I have worked to welcome the immigrant.”


Somehow I don’t think Teddy was referring to Leo Damore.


Few of the principals ever talked about what happened. The prosecutor, Walter Steele, was quickly appointed to a state judgeship—another nationwide search, as we say in Massachusetts. As a judge, his most famous case involved allowing a convicted child predator to leave the state without restrictions, after which the offender moved to Montana and then murdered and cannibalized a 7-year old boy.


When Steele reached the mandatory retirement age of 70 in 1996, the local New Bedford paper ran a story about him without a single mention of Chappaquiddick. But Judge Steele did obliquely mention the difficulty of explaining to victims and their survivors how sometimes an obviously guilty party gets off scot-free:


“It’s awful hard to explain to them that you think you’re doing justice.”


Do you think the Kopechnes would have understood what Judge Steele was getting at?


As for Gargan, Damore paid him $15,000 for “legal and editing work” on Senatorial Privilege. Gargan eventually ended up with a hack job in Boston as chairman of a state board that essentially returned licenses to convicted drunk drivers.


Ironically, despite his intimate knowledge of what happened at Chappaquiddick, Gargan became the leading proponent on the board for allowing convicted drunkards back on the road. When Republicans regained control of state government in 1991, Gargan was summarily fired.


Gargan died in Virginia at age 87 in December 2017. By then he was such a forgotten figure that when his paid death notice appeared in the Globe, no Boston reporters even noticed it for three weeks.


According to the paid obituary, “Joe was dedicated to helping those who suffer from alcohol addiction.”


The boiler-room girls you will soon be reading about have maintained omerta—silence—for almost half a century. But as Damore notes in Chapter 54, on the fifth anniversary of Mary Jo’s death in 1974, Rosemary “Cricket” Keough did issue the following terse statement:


“My friend Mary Jo just happened to be in the wrong car at the wrong time with the wrong people.”


In a strange way, Damore’s life turned out like Mary Jo’s—Senatorial Privilege, now retitled as Chappaquiddick: Power, Privilege, and the Ted Kennedy Cover-Up is an unforgettable book, muckraking in the best sense of the word. But for Damore personally, it was the wrong book at the wrong time about the wrong people, and it cost him his life.


But at least we still have his book—and the truth.









Introduction


CHAPPAQUIDDICK HAS BEEN CALLED “THE MOST BRILLIANT cover-up ever achieved in a nation where investigative procedures are well-developed and where the principles of equal justice prevail, at least during some of those moments where people are watching.” The fascination for the most famous traffic fatality in the history of American politics remains strong today. The mysteries of the case continue to haunt Senator Edward Kennedy’s career. For many, Chappaquiddick stands as the single obstacle in his path to the Presidency.


Those mysteries haunt not only the Senator, but investigative authorities. Charges of ineptitude and lack of diligence abounded, as did insinuations that the machinery of justice crumbled beneath the power and the prestige of the Kennedy family. To his dying day, George Killen, former State Police Detective-Lieutenant, and chief of a never-revealed investigation, was rankled by Chappaquiddick. Failure to bring that case to a satisfactory resolution was, he lamented, “the biggest mistake” of a long and distinguished police career. Two months before his death in 1979, Killen decried the injustice of Chappaquiddick; Senator Kennedy, he said, “killed that girl the same as if he put a gun to her head and pulled the trigger.”


It is to George Killen that I owe the original inspiration and encouragement to undertake a reinvestigation of Chappaquiddick. To Killen’s associate, State Police Detective-Lieutenant Bernie Flynn, I owe a special debt for revelations about the critical part he played in the case.


This book would not have been possible without the wise counsel of Joseph Gargan, Jr., and the generosity of former Assistant District Attorney Jimmy Smith. Reluctant to revive memories of a painful episode that resulted in the ruin of his own political career, former District Attorney Edmund Dinis nevertheless disclosed to me his conviction, “There’s no question in my mind that the grand jury would have brought an indictment against Ted Kennedy for manslaughter, if I had given them the case.” Former Assistant District Attorney Armand Fernandes was generous of his time and information about the part he played in the preparation of the inquest case. Peter Gay, Lance Garth and State Police Detective-Lieutenant Gordon Clarkson also provided helpful information.


District Attorney Philip Rollins and his staff made possible complete access to the official files of the case at Barnstable courthouse. Police Chief Dominick Arena, now of Lincoln, Massachusetts, was of enormous assistance in sharing his recollections and documents about his key role in the case, as were Carmen Salvador, George Searle, and former Deputy Sheriff Christopher Look.


I owe special thanks to attorneys Richard McCarron and Paul Redmond, to Edward Harrington, Frank Keating, F. Lee Bailey and, in particular, Andrew M. Tuney, for their insights into the case, and to Charles Zimmerman and Ed McGrath for expertise and technical assistance.


I am indebted to Court Stenographer Joseph Donegan for revealing the part he played in the inquest. Cleo O’Donnell was an invaluable source of information about his brother, Kenneth. Stanley Moore and Marilyn Richards Gilbert both provided important information.


Former Registrar of Motor Vehicles Richard McLaughlin and Registry Inspector Herbert Burr, and in particular, Registry Attorney Paula Golden, were very helpful in providing hitherto unavailable official records dealing with the Chappaquiddick accident under Registrar Allen Mackey’s policy of open files. Richard Gill, Marianne O’Brien, James Igoe, William Camara, Andrew Martin, Frank Trabucco and Ronald Andrews helped to secure important records. Maurice G. Lauzon and Marguerite Habicht of the New Bedford Standard-Times provided generous assistance, as did Harvey Ewing, Ralph Gordon, Francis Broadhurst, Don Moore, Gerald R. Kelly, Margaret Kangley and columnist Jack Anderson.


I am grateful also to Dr. John McHugh and Lieutenant James Sharkey of the Massachusetts State Police Chemistry Lab; Dr. Henry Lee, Dr. Sidney Callis, Barry Crawford, Sally Elberry, John Ryan; and John O’Connor of the New England Telephone Company. Bobbi Galiani and Cynthia Field were unfailingly helpful; David Surette, Ralph Mairano and Brian Jermainne assisted in the preparation of the manuscript. Sally Merry and William Woods provided important support.


My wife, Dr. June King Davison, made it possible for me to undertake this work.


Those others who requested their contributions be made in confidence will recognize the help they gave me in a case in which the cause of justice was frustrated.


The problem of securing public officials against unwarranted legal harassment was anticipated by the Founding Fathers, who shielded members of Congress against arrest during their attendance at sessions of their respective houses in all cases, except treason, felony and breach of the peace. The Supreme Court clarified in 1907 that senatorial privilege did not, however, preclude criminal prosecution altogether.


At Chappaquiddick, it did.


Old Saybrook, Connecticut


March 3, 1986









For thou hast lost thy princely privilege


With vile participation.


—HENRY IV, PART I ACT III, SC. II









Chapter 1


THE FERRY AT EDGARTOWN, ON MARTHA’S VINEYARD, WAS NOT scheduled to begin operation until 7:30 A.M. on Saturday, July 19, 1969. Nevertheless, ferryman Richard Hewitt beckoned a blue Ford waiting at the dock at 7 A.M. on board the On Time, a raft-like vessel that crossed the 150-yard channel to the island of Chappaquiddick in under four minutes.


The Ford proceeded on Chappaquiddick Road to a sweeping, hairpin curve, leaving the asphalt for the dirt ruts of Dike Road. A bumpy half-mile away was a wooden structure perched on pilings spanning a tidal pool called Poucha Pond. After negotiating the narrow bridge, the Ford discharged Robert Samuel, a high school science teacher, and 15-year-old Joseph Cappavella. Burdened with fishing gear, they continued on foot along a sand track between ranks of dunes to East Beach. After an hour of fruitless casting into the surf along that deserted stretch of shoreline, the two returned to the car. Samuel was contemplating fishing off the bridge into the pond when his attention was drawn to the glint of metal reflecting off a dark shape in the water ten feet away, on the south side of the bridge.


Looking closer through the ripples of tidewater, he discovered the shadowy outline of an automobile turned onto its roof, front end angled toward the bridge. Samuel made out the wavery numbers of a license plate on the car’s inverted bumper.


Samuel and Cappavella headed at once for a cottage 400 feet from the pond. “Dyke House,” read the printing on a mailbox beside the weathered shingles of the former hunting camp owned by Chappaquiddick resident Antone Bettencourt and leased for the summer to Mr. and Mrs. Pierre Malm of Lebanon, Pennsylvania. A self-possessed woman of middle age, Mrs. Malm was preparing breakfast when she responded to Samuel’s knock at her back door and received his report that a car was overturned in the pond. Then, Samuel and Cappavella returned to drop fishing lines off the bridge, oblivious to the car submerged on the other side.


Mrs. Malm telephoned the Island Communications Center maintained by the Dukes County sheriff’s office at Martha’s Vineyard airport.


At 8:20 A.M. a call from the Center was logged at the two-room police station located on the first floor of Edgartown’s white clapboard town hall.


Policewoman Carmen Salvador relayed the information that an automobile was under water at Dike Bridge on Chappaquiddick to Police Chief Dominick James Arena. She said, “Do you want to send somebody over there?”


“No,” Arena said. “I’ll go.”


Arena left the station with the cruiser’s blue dome-light flashing. A sultry, clouding-up morning presaged poor weather for the second day of the Edgartown Yacht Club’s annual regatta. For 13 years a Massachusetts state trooper assigned traffic duty and security at Boston’s Logan International Airport, Arena was later attached to the Attorney General’s criminal division, handling evidence of government corruption unearthed by the Massachusetts Crime Commission. “Because of my personality, and because I could handle people, I was running the jury room as far as witnesses were concerned to keep them happy and keep the lawyers happy,” Arena said.


A newspaper story about a town meeting voting to raise the salary of its police chief to $10,000 in hopes of filling the vacant position prompted Arena to apply for the job even before he knew where that town was. The town, which he found on a map, would turn out to be Edgartown, a picturesque former whaling port described as “tidy, shipshape and sparkling clean.” In May 1967, Trooper Arena became Chief Arena, taking on a job which, in many ways, cast him as a virtual legate of the Chamber of Commerce: Policing the occasional excesses of seasonal pleasure-seekers upon whom Edgartown’s tourist economy depended.


Pulling up to the ferry landing at the foot of Daggett Street, Arena asked Dick Hewitt, “You hear anything about an accident at the Dike Bridge?”


“Not until now,” Hewitt said.


Chappaquiddick looked no more than two swimming-pool lengths away, the channel as close-quartered as everything else was in Edgartown, including the two-car ferry that chugged Arena across. Apart from the modest swank of the beach club’s cabanas, the island was a backwater of modest cottages midst groves of scrub pine and pin oak. In twenty years, the bridge at the end of Dike Road never had been the locale of an automobile accident.


Arena parked the cruiser beside the bulkhead. He asked the young men fishing off the bridge, “Is there a car over there?”


“On the other side,” Samuel replied.


From the slope of the humpbacked bridge, Arena saw an automobile submerged but for rear tires beginning to show above the waterline. Gouges in a curbing of caplogs traced the path the automobile had taken before plunging into the pond. Arena judged the markings on the bridge’s dusty planks, “Weren’t really what you could call skid marks. They were more like scuff marks that probably were brought about by tires going sideways, sliding more than skidding across something.”


Arena observed a woman approach the pond. Mrs. Malm was taking a look at the accident herself. She’d heard a car pass the house “going faster than usual” around midnight the previous evening, but nothing else.


Arena was amazed she had not heard the car hit the water. He asked if her husband had a bathing suit he could borrow. He followed her into “Dyke House” to change into plaid boxer trunks that, to his surprise, for he was 6’4” tall and weighed 230 pounds, fit him perfectly.


Arena walked to the pond and waded in until the banking dropped off. He swam towards the car, encountering a turbulence of current. He dived underwater. He caught only a blurred glimpse of the automobile before he was dragged away by the inexorable force of an outgoing tide he estimated was running to a depth of six feet, because he could touch bottom.


Arena had a presentiment of dread: Whoever had driven off the bridge might not have escaped from the crushed and upended position in which the vehicle had landed and could still be trapped inside. Any survivor would have reported the accident by now; and there had been no report on the answering machine that recorded calls after the police station closed, or on the log Arena checked when he arrived at the station that morning.


Arena radioed the Communications Center from the cruiser. He told the on-duty dispatcher to have the police station send an officer, and the fire department’s scuba diver to the scene.


Arena asked the two small boys standing near the bridge if they knew where there was a face mask he could use.


One of the boys said, “I think there’s one in the boat.” He ran to a flat-bottomed punt beached on shore and tossed a mask to Arena.


Arena dived into the pond again. The current repeatedly sent him out of control. He let himself be swept to the bridge pilings where he caught his breath; then swam back to the car. Hoisting himself onto the undercarriage, he found seating space beside the gas tank, there to await the arrival of help.


Arena had cut the inside of his big toe on some metal edge of the car, but he was too distracted to care whether the wound was bleeding. Word of the accident was bringing spectators to the pond’s edge despite a light rain that had started to fall. After catching five bluefish, Samuel and Cappavella were packing up their gear, preparing to leave. Arena’s activities in Poucha Pond had scared away the fish.


At 8:45 A.M., Arena recognized the blinking red bulb atop Edgartown Fire Chief Antone Silva’s station wagon bumping down the Dike Road, followed by Antone Bettencourt’s blue Jeepster. With Silva was volunteer fireman Laurence Mercier, the proprietor of an Edgartown grocery store, and police officer Robert Bruguiere. A “special” hired for the summer, Bruguiere was a teacher of business subjects at Natick High School. Arena told him, “See if you can get a registry listing for this license,” and called out plate number L78 207 from the submerged car’s inverted front bumper.


Bruguiere radioed the Communications Center to check the Polk Directory of Massachusetts registrations to find out who owned the car in the pond. Then, he drove the police cruiser to the beach side of the bridge.


Arena watched John Farrar adjust an oxygen tank across his back. Captain of the search and rescue division of Edgartown’s volunteer fire department, Farrar had received a call at 8:25 A.M. to proceed at once to Dike Bridge on Chappaquiddick. Farrar left the Turf ’n’ Tackle shop he managed in Edgartown for the fire station, where diving gear was maintained in immediate readiness. He was joined by Antone Bettencourt, a sprightly 70-year-old retired ferrymaster who drove him to the dock. Fire Chief Silva was waiting on the Chappaquiddick landing to help transfer rescue equipment to his cruiser. Farrar changed into a full diving suit en route to the accident scene, arriving there at 8:45 A.M.


Arena’s attention was diverted by Bruguiere calling out information he’d received over the cruiser’s radio. License plate L78 207 had been issued to Edward M. Kennedy, Room 2400, JFK Building, Government Center, Boston.


My God, another tragedy, Arena thought. His concern for the accident tuned to a higher frequency of alarm. But he had no time to ponder the stunning news that it was Ted Kennedy’s car he was sitting on. Farrar was swimming toward him holding a safety line. He gave Arena one end of the rope, put an oxygen tube in his mouth and dove underwater.


When his mask cleared, Farrar saw in the wash of watery light he likened to the sfumato effect of a Rembrandt painting, an Oldsmobile sedan balanced on the brow of its windshield, tipped forward from the weight of the engine so that its rear end was tilted toward the surface. The car was facing the opposite direction it had been travelling before plunging off the bridge. Only speed could account for such aerial maneuvers, Farrar said later. “The car must have been going at a pretty good clip to land almost in the middle of the channel.”


Farrar peered through the driver’s side open window. It took 20 seconds for his eyes to grow accustomed to the gloom inside the car. The front seat was empty.


Farrar made his way to the back of the car, fighting a current he estimated was running four knots, hard to swim against for any length of time. Through the top right-hand corner of the rear window Farrar saw two motionless feet clad in sandals. So long as there was a possibility the occupant might be alive and breathing, he had to hurry and expand the air in the automobile and bring a resuscitator, if necessary.


Farrar moved quickly to the right side of the car. The rear passenger window had been blown out, shards of glass formed a ragged edge along the frame. Farrar thrust himself through the portal inside the car to his waist. Looking up, he found the body of a young woman. Her head was cocked back, her face pressed into the footwell. Both hands gripped the front edge of the back seat to hold herself in conformity with its upholstered contours. It was not a position assumed by a person knocked unconscious by the impact of a crash, Farrar said. “If she had been dead or unconscious, she would have been prone, sinking to the bottom or floating on top. She definitely was holding herself in a position to avail herself of the last remaining air that had to be trapped in the car.”


Farrar took hold of the right thigh. As soon as he touched the body, he knew the woman was dead; the flesh under his grasp was hard as wood. “Instead of life-saving, I was evidence-gathering,” Farrar realized. “Because I was the only person who would be able to observe this situation, it behooved me to think about what I saw underwater to be able to report it.”


Farrar rotated the body inside the car, a maneuver complicated by the victim’s hunched posture and outstretched arms made inflexible by rigor mortis. The body was “about one-quarter positively buoyant,” Farrar observed. “There was still a little air left in her.”


Farrar drew the body through the window head first. A gold chain clasped about the waist came undone and slipped off. He struggled to maintain his position beside the car against the current. Concerned he might lose the body when he swam to the surface, Farrar bound the safety line about the woman’s neck. He tugged on the rope to signal he was coming up. Clasping the body over his head, Farrar pushed off. He broke the surface as Arena was gathering in the last feet of slack line. Farrar noted with satisfaction that the police chief’s assistance was not required to bring the body up. The difficult recovery had taken him ten minutes.


The current took Farrar downstream toward the bridge. Holding the body in a cross-chest carry, he swam to the rear of Kennedy’s car. For the first time in the several years he had known Arena as “a very placid individual, very calm and collected,” Farrar observed him to be “excited and emotionally wrought-up.” Arena had a quaver in his voice when he said, “My God, it’s a body. Do you recognize her? Is it one of the Kennedy clan?”


“I haven’t had a chance to see if I recognize her or not,” Farrar said. He turned the body over in the water.


Arena examined the face for a Kennedy family likeness. Farrar observed “a great look of relief” on Arena’s face before he said, “Thank God, no. I don’t recognize her. It isn’t one of the clan.”


Farrar undid the safety line. The victim’s blonde hair was tangled in the half-hitch knots he’d tied. Farrar helped draw the body out of the water onto Arena’s lap. Holding the corpse in his arms, Arena scrutinized the pale, lightly-freckled face, rigid in death. The mouth was open, teeth gritted in a death grimace. Pale eyes stared through partially-closed lids. She wore a long-sleeve white blouse, and navy blue slacks. There was a friendship ring on her left hand; two gold bracelets dangled from a wrist. “She appeared normal in the sense that there were no injuries that I could see,” Arena said, later. “If she hadn’t been wringing wet, it was as if she was about to go to work, or to a party, because everything was in place. Everything was buttoned right up.”


Fireman Laurence Mercier called from the bulkhead, “Do you want the boat?” before pushing it out into the pond on a rope. Arena and Farrar placed the body across slat seats. The boat was drawn to shore. Passed hand-over-hand to the bridge, the body was placed on a stretcher in the back of the police cruiser.


Arena ordered Bruguiere to summon the medical examiner and undertaker, and have a tow truck sent to the scene. As required in all fatal automobile accidents, the Registry of Motor Vehicles had to be notified, too. Arena said, “And see if you can find out where Ted Kennedy is and get him down here.”


Arena asked Tony Bettencourt to drive to the landing to wait for the medical examiner to come off the ferry.


Farrar dove underwater to retrieve the chain belt that had detached from the body. He checked the rest of the car. On the interior roof near the front passenger seat he found a workman’s lunch pail lacquered with a decoupage of flowers, and fashioned into a handbag. When Arena opened it, water gushed forth a spillage of cosmetics and articles of grooming. A wallet contained a Virginia driver’s license and a pass for the United States Senate, identifying Rosemary Keough of Washington, D.C. There were two keys for room #56 at the Katama Shores Motor Inn of Edgartown.


Arena radioed the Communications Center to confirm that Keough was registered at the motel. Minutes later, he received confirmation she was one of six young women who had occupied three rooms there since Thursday. None of the beds had been slept in the previous night.


Arena told Farrar to check downstream, “It’s possible there were other people in the car. They might be in the pond someplace.” He was walking off the bridge when the Depot Corner garage tow-truck pulled up with Jon Ahlbum at the wheel. The truck had emblazoned on its side panel: “You Wreck Em—We Fetch Em.”


Arena didn’t want Ahlbum to remove the car from Poucha Pond until registry inspectors arrived, he said. “They don’t like it when an accident scene is disturbed before they can do their investigation.” Concerned about the hazard presented by a growing crowd of spectators at the pond’s edge, Arena changed his mind. The registry’s office in Oak Bluffs was closed on Saturday. “I don’t think we can get a hold of the registry today. You better get the car out as soon as you can and hold it at the garage.” Arena added, “That’s Ted Kennedy’s car down there in the water.”


“Gee, I just saw him at the ferry landing on the Chappy side,” Ahlbum said.


“Oh, God. I better get a hold of him,” Arena said.


Arena was walking down Dike Road when a Pontiac station wagon pulled up.


“Jim, can I help you?” Christopher “Huck” Look said. Look was a deputy sheriff and “special duty” police officer. A call to his cottage on Chappaquiddick suggested Look might be needed at the accident scene.


“You probably can help keep traffic away from the bridge,” Arena said. “There’s a car overturned in the pond. We’re trying to find out if there’s anyone else in it.”


“I saw a car last night,” Look said. “I hope to God that isn’t the same one.”


Arena was too preoccupied to continue the conversation and walked off.


Look got out of his car and watched the chief head for “Dyke House.” Arena was going to call the police station to send somebody down to the ferry to locate Ted Kennedy.









Chapter 2


ARRIVING AT THE LANDING ON THIS ERRAND AT 9:30 A.M., ANTONE Bettencourt addressed Dick Hewitt on the docked On Time. “Do you know about the accident? It’s Ted Kennedy’s car and there’s a dead girl in it.”


Hewitt nodded in the direction of a weathered ferryhouse at the landing. “Well, he’s standing right over there with two men.”


Bettencourt confronted Ted Kennedy. “Senator, do you know there’s a girl found dead in your car?” he said. “Do you need a ride down to the bridge?”


“No,” Kennedy said. “I’m going on over to town.”


Bettencourt watched the On Time leave the landing for the crossing to Edgartown. Minutes later the ferry was back. Hewitt made several round-trips during the next fifteen minutes. He observed Ted Kennedy and two other men “milling around” the ferryhouse. Hewitt wondered if the Senator knew about the accident. The same idea had occurred to Steve Ewing, the ferry’s 16-year-old deckhand. “We realized by this time the Senator’s car was involved in the accident,” he said. “We thought he was waiting there for news.”


Kennedy had boarded the ferry shortly after Ewing reported for work at 9 A.M. The Senator greeted the boy with a cheerful “Hi!” when Ewing collected three 15-cent fares. After the boat ride to Chappaquiddick the three men had gathered at the ferryhouse, which was furnished with benches and a public telephone.


Hewitt and Ewing walked off the docked ferry. At their approach, Kennedy edged toward a row of parked cars. He was within hearing distance when Hewitt called out, “Senator, are you aware of the accident?”


A tall man wearing glasses answered, “Yes, we just heard about it.”


Hewitt and Ewing returned to the ferry. Kennedy and the tall man wearing glasses followed. “This time,” Ewing noted, “Kennedy looked worried.”


Steve Ewing’s father was standing at the Edgartown dock. Vineyard bureau chief for the New Bedford Standard-Times, Harvey Ewing had heard about an accident at Chappaquiddick involving a member of Ted Kennedy’s regatta party and had gone to the landing to cover the story.


It was 9:50 A.M. when he spotted Ted Kennedy on board the On Time bound for Edgartown. Ewing made ready to take a photograph, but before the ferry docked, Kennedy jumped off and was striding up Daggett Street at such a brisk pace, he walked out of focus. “That’s why the picture isn’t very good,” Ewing apologized later. “Because I didn’t get him full face coming at me off the ferry; I got him sideways.”


Ewing wasn’t sure why he had taken the picture. “I figured if someone in his party had been in an accident, it was a normal reaction for him to be over there checking things out, that he’d be concerned,” he said. Kennedy looked “in fine shape,” smartly turned out in light blue pants, white polo shirt and canvas deck shoes.


Ewing went to a pay phone at the dock to call Bob Hyde, his summer assistant. Ewing wanted Hyde at the accident scene while he maintained telephone contact with his paper in New Bedford. Ewing told him, “All I know is a car went into the drink and whoever was in it is involved with the Kennedy party. They think there’s more than one person in the car.”


Ewing was joined at the landing by Colbert Smith, assistant editor of the Vineyard Gazette. Boarding the ferry was undertaker Eugene Frieh, with the Buick station wagon he used as a hearse; his assistant, David Guay; and associate medical examiner, Dr. Donald Mills.


Mills had been alerted by his receptionist, Mrs. Thomas Teller, “Don’t be surprised if you get a call to go to Chappy. I hear there’s been a fatal of some kind over there.”


Mills received the call because it was Medical Examiner Dr. Robert Nevin’s day off. He left his office and drove to the ferry landing. Frieh invited him into the hearse for the journey to Chappaquiddick.


Mills observed a dozen bystanders on Dike Bridge. Wearing a bathing suit and a wet T-shirt, police chief Arena was entering “Dyke House.” Arena used Mrs. Malm’s phone to call the police station. He told Carmen Salvador to send someone down to the ferry to find Ted Kennedy.


“He’s right here, Chief,” Salvador said. “And he wants to talk to you.”


“I’m afraid, Senator, I have some bad news,” Arena said. “There’s been another tragedy. Your car was in an accident over here. And the young lady is dead.”


“I know,” Kennedy said.


“Can you tell me, was there anybody else in the car?”


“Yes,” Kennedy said.


“Are they in the water?”


“No,” Kennedy said. “Can I talk to you? Could I see you?”


“Do you want to come over here?” Arena said. “Or do you want me to go over there?”


“I prefer for you to come over here,” Kennedy said.


Not bothering to change clothes, Arena rushed out of “Dyke House” to find a ride to Edgartown. He asked “Huck” Look for a lift to the ferry. Look didn’t have his car there. Look approached Dr. Edward Self, standing near the bulkhead. A prominent New York surgeon and president of the Chappaquiddick Association of island residents, Self agreed to chauffeur Arena to the landing.


Arena was getting into Self’s Land Rover when Bruguiere reported “Huck” Look had seen the accident car—or one just like it—“up at the corner” around 12:45 A.M. the previous evening.


Arena didn’t give much notice to the report. Look was a year-rounder with a variety of part-time vocations, including off-season heating oil dealer. Arena would have plenty of time to question Look later. Right now, Arena was more concerned about his forthcoming interview with Senator Ted Kennedy at the police station.


Police officer Roy Meekins was waiting at the Edgartown landing, as he had been instructed when Bruguiere radioed to have a cruiser meet Arena there. Then Bruguiere greeted Dr. Mills. He explained that a young woman had been recovered from the overturned car in the pond.


Mills wanted the body brought to the front of the cruiser so as not to expose it to spectators standing on the bridge. The stretcher was placed near the cruiser’s front grill. Mills uncovered a blanket to find “a well-developed, well-nourished, very attractive young woman” in complete rigor mortis. Her arms were stretched outward from her shoulders as if to ward off an assault; hands were frozen in a “semi-claw. “There was a fine white froth about the nose and mouth flecked with a barely visible cobweb of blood that went directly to a capillary area on the left nostril. It was, in Dr. Mills’ opinion, “the characteristic foam that goes with a drowning case.”


Mills ran his fingers through the wet hair for evidence of skull fracture, then the throat and neck. He unbuttoned the blouse to expose a lacy blue brassiere. He placed a stethoscope over the heart. There was no sound. He felt the rib cage; then tapped the chest, repeating the procedure with varying degrees of pressure. Each time, water welled up from inside the lungs, creating a splashing sound. The lightest pressure produced water from the mouth and nose.


Mills did not remove the brassiere to examine the breasts for injury. He slid the slacks over her hips “exposing her enough to make an adequate examination,” he explained. “I couldn’t have removed her clothes without cutting them off because of rigor mortis.”


Frieh closely followed Mills’ examination. As a mortician, “I more or less kept my eyes open,” he said. Water seeped from the nose and mouth when the body was turned onto its left side, Frieh observed, “That probably came from her stomach.”


“No, I’m pressing her chest,” Mills said. “That’s water from her lungs.”


Mills passed his hands over the back and abdomen. He found no evidence of trauma of any kind. He diagnosed “an obvious and clear” case of drowning. “After all,” he said, later, “the girl was found in a submerged automobile.”


Mills overheard several bystanders speculating that the accident victim was a secretary employed by the Kennedy family. Mills ordered Frieh to remove the body to his funeral home, but to hold off embalming. In view of “certain non-medical factors and personalities” he had heard only as a rumor, Mills wanted to consult the District Attorney’s office about a possible autopsy, he said. “If there’s any Kennedy mixup in this, it’s more than I want to handle alone.”


Mills rode back to Edgartown in Frieh’s hearse. Although he viewed the death of “this lovely young person” as a “shame,” he was more concerned, at that moment, about the patient in labor he had sent to Martha’s Vineyard hospital in Oak Bluffs, seven miles away.


The hospital’s emergency room had monitored transmissions to and from the Communications Center concerning a fatal accident on Chappaquiddick involving Senator Ted Kennedy’s automobile. The information was reported by on-duty nurse Barbara Ferry to her husband, at 9:30 A.M.


Richard Ferry, an employee of the Woods Hole, Martha’s Vineyard, Nantucket Steamship Authority that provided boat service to the islands, called the Authority’s chairman, Jimmy Smith, in Falmouth on Cape Cod. “There’s been an accident,” he said. “It’s Ted Kennedy’s car and somebody’s dead. We don’t know who it is yet. I thought you’d like to know.”


Ferry promised to call back when he had more information.


Stocky, somewhat brash and outspoken but a well-liked lawyer, Smith had used his influence to secure hard-to-get reservations for Ted Kennedy’s Oldsmobile to be transported to Martha’s Vineyard on Wednesday. Return passage was booked for Sunday morning at 9:50 A.M. out of Oak Bluffs. An assistant district attorney within whose jurisdiction the accident had occurred, Smith had taken Ferry’s call in a library furnished with the photographic memorabilia of his work as advance man and coordinator for various Kennedy campaigns. Captivated by John F. Kennedy “as the one politician in Massachusetts who didn’t have his hand out,” Smith had enlisted early, as one of an army of young, idealistic lawyers who were to become the foot soldiers in a Kennedy march to the White House.


In 1960, Smith advanced campaign appearances in North Dakota, Montana and Wyoming, states in the Northern Plains, under the charge of Ted Kennedy. When Ted himself became a candidate for the U.S. Senate in 1962, Smith was floor monitor at the Democratic state convention that gave the first-time office seeker the party’s endorsement. After that election, Ted Kennedy inscribed a Philipe Halsman portrait of himself: “To James Smith, who helped us fight the good fight.” Smith had gone on to work Kennedy campaigns in 1964 and 1968.


“Cape Codders have wondered for some time if one of their number actually might be close to the Kennedy apparatus,” the weekly Cape Cod News reported, “Jimmy Smith appears to be mighty close.”


Smith called Kenneth O’Donnell. The former White House appointments secretary and political strategist lived in Jamaica Plain, a suburb of Boston. O’Donnell had little reaction to the news of the accident. He asked Smith to keep him “informed.”


Smith called O’Donnell’s brother, Warren, in Worcester. An advance man for both Kennedy and Johnson presidential campaigns, he had played football at Harvard with Ted Kennedy. More volatile than his brother, Warren wanted to “do something,” he said. “How can we find out what’s happening?”


Smith knew Chief Arena as a “very friendly, congenial guy with a lot of sophistication,” and had rejoiced when he’d been chosen Edgartown chief of police. “I thought he would be good for Edgartown because they’re so provincial over there.”


Smith wasn’t concerned about Arena “calling a shot a shot,” whatever the case turned out to be. But he wasn’t going to use his position in the district attorney’s office to find out what was going on in Edgartown.









Chapter 3


ARENA STRODE INTO TOWN HALL AT 10 O’CLOCK WITH NO INKLING of what was ahead of him. He wasn’t surprised to find Harvey Ewing and Colbert Smith waiting to see him, given the lightning speed with which Edgartown’s gossip network had broadcast the news that Senator Kennedy was at the police station.


Arena asked the two local reporters to wait outside.


Ewing raised an eyebrow. Arena had never denied him access to the police station before.


Arena greeted Carmen Salvador at the station’s front desk. A sweet-faced woman of an unexcitable temperament, she had been relaying messages to and from the Communications Center about the accident at Chappaquiddick when Ted Kennedy appeared at her desk.


“How are you?” Kennedy said. “Can I use your phone.”


“You can use the Chief’s,” Salvador said. She let Kennedy into an adjoining office.


Kennedy looked “really nervous,” Salvador reported. “He seemed to think I knew all about what had happened, but I didn’t. I thought someone had taken his car for a joy ride.”


A tall man had followed Kennedy into the station. He, too, had asked to use the telephone. Salvador watched him misdial the phone on her desk, make two calls that made no sense to her, then join Ted Kennedy in Arena’s office and close the door.


Kennedy was using the phone when Arena entered his office and said, “Hello, Senator. I’m Jim Arena.”


Kennedy hung up, came around the desk to shake Arena’s out-stretched hand and said, “Hello, Jim.”


From his state trooper days at Suffolk County Courthouse in Boston, Arena recognized the other man in the office as former U.S. Attorney Paul Markham. He said, “I’m sorry about the accident.”


“Yes, I know,” Kennedy said. “I was the driver.”


“Nothing in my prior career as a police officer,” Arena recalled later, “had prepared me for standing in a wet bathing suit and shaking hands with a United States Senator—and a Kennedy—who tells me he is the driver of a car from which I have just removed the body of a beautiful young girl. I was stunned.”


Arena was struck by the incongruity of the situation. “Our roles could have been reversed. The Senator was in clean, dry clothes—poised, confident and in control, using my office and telephone. I’m standing in a puddle of water in a state of confusion thinking I had only minutes before broken the news of a personal tragedy he’s now telling me quite calmly he knows all about.” Arena had assumed the accident victim had driven the car off Dike Bridge herself. He said, “Do you happen to know where Rosemary Keough is from so we can notify her next of kin?”


“It isn’t ‘Cricket’ Keough; it’s Mary Jo Kopechne,” Kennedy said. “I’ve already notified her parents.”


Arena asked how to spell the last name.


Kennedy only knew how to pronounce it.


“We can find out how to spell it later,” Markham suggested.


“What would you like for me to do?” Kennedy said. “We must do what is right or we’ll both be criticized for it.”


The Senator’s demeanor “certainly worked a calming effect on me,” Arena said later. “I automatically fell back on years of police training and began to process the matter as though it was a routine traffic case.” As far as Arena could see, it was a motor vehicle accident, he said. “The first thing we have to do is to have a statement from you about what happened.”


“Would it be all right if I wrote it out?” Kennedy said, requesting time “undisturbed” to prepare the statement.


Arena led the way to an unoccupied town office down the corridor from the police station, “so the Senator could have some privacy.”


Kennedy asked Arena to return to Chappaquiddick to see that his car “got out and cleared OK.”


Arena was glad for the reprieve. The admission that Senator Kennedy had been the driver of the fatal accident car thoroughly rattled him. On the way to the ferry, Arena collected his thoughts around self-reminders of the proper police procedures to follow, when he returned to the station to receive Kennedy’s statement, in this suddenly-extraordinary automobile accident.


Dr. Mills was also taking pains in dealing with a case in which so famous a name was rumored to be involved. As medical examiner, Mills could call for an autopsy to be made on the accident victim, or one could be ordered by the district attorney. A modest man of cautious disposition, Mills hesitated to exercise his own authority. Instead, he called the state police barracks at Oak Bluffs, following a directive that all communications with the district attorney’s office be routed through the state police.


Mills told officer Richard DeRoche to contact the district attorney’s office in New Bedford. “Tell them I have the case of a girl who was trapped in a submerged vehicle for a matter of hours and has obviously drowned; that I am fully satisfied with my diagnosis of drowning by immersion; that I don’t know who she is, but she is reputed to be an employee of the Kennedy family. And if it is the judgment of the district attorney or his assistant that an autopsy is indicated, then I am asking for one.”


Mills wasn’t making the request for medical reasons. “We almost never do autopsies in drowning cases on the island. I was requesting the consideration of an autopsy because of the connection with a prominent person—that was particularly important in my mind. I felt it was too big an issue for me to handle single-handedly. I felt the evidence of drowning was conclusive, but I’m no detective.”









Chapter 4


REGISTRY OF MOTOR VEHICLES INSPECTOR GEORGE “RED” Kennedy, and his assistant Robert Molla were waiting for Arena at the ferry landing. Kennedy was fishing when he received a radio call that Edgartown police were looking for him. A fourteen-year veteran of the registry, Kennedy was reputed to be “a good investigator” by his colleagues. Arena thought he was “a nice guy, but not too bright.”


The automobile had been righted in Poucha Pond when Arena returned to Dike Bridge; but the current was still too swift for the car to be pulled from the water.


John Farrar had observed large air bubbles rise to the surface when the automobile turned over. He was continuing to dive, looking for more bodies. Arena told him, “You can call off your search; I have the driver. We know who the girl is. There was nobody else in the car.”


Arena joined registry inspectors taking measurements of the accident scene. Dike Road was 15 feet wide at the bridge and the bridge was built at a 27 degree angle to the road. The car had landed 51 feet from the start of the bridge and catapulted 23 feet, 7 inches forward, and 5 feet outward from the exit gouges on the rub rail.


Inspector Kennedy noted: “According to the skid marks, the wheel of the right side of the car skidded some 18 feet before it went over the rub rail. The wheel on the left side showed skid marks of 33 feet, 2 inches to the point where the car left the bridge and flipped into the water.”


Arena’s inspection revealed, “No skid marks on the bridge or dirt road prior to reaching the bridge that I could see.”


When tide approached dead low, the car was dragged from the pond. As the rear end license plate emerged, “Huck” Look, watching the salvage operation from the bridge, walked over to officer Bruguiere to say, “That is the same car I saw last night.”


Bruguiere reported what Look told him to Arena.


“Do you know who was driving that car last night?” Arena said.


Look hadn’t the slightest idea, “Only what I told Bob. It appeared to be a man and a woman, and maybe somebody else in the back seat.”


“Well, it was Senator Ted Kennedy,” Arena said.


One of the few registered Democrats in Edgartown, Look was horrified. “Holy Jesus!” he said. Then, in mock recantation, “I didn’t see a thing!”


To Registry Inspector Kennedy, Look confirmed having seen “a vehicle with similar description to vehicle in the accident” whose occupants “looked like two persons, 1 male and 1 female, with male operating vehicle.”


Farrar waded to the car, rear wheels resting upon the banking, front end partially submerged. The windshield, though shattered, was still held intact by safety film. Extensive damage had been done to the passenger-side doors and the car’s top. The upper right edge of the roof had broken the impact of meeting the water; momentum had carried the car over onto its roof, Farrar said. “For that reason I believe initially a large amount of air was trapped inside.” That one window was open and two others broken would not prevent an air bubble from forming.


Farrar opened the driver’s side door and checked the dashboard. The key was in the ignition; the light switch was in the “on” position; the gear wand was in “drive.” The car was full of broken glass. A hairbrush and a sodden Boston Globe for Friday, July 18, were on the floor of the back seat. When the trunk was opened, Farrar observed it to be “remarkably dry.”


Arena’s inspection of the car only added to his growing puzzlement about the accident. “I was far from being an expert, but I did have certain training beyond that of the average lay person in the matter of accidents. The driver of the car would have to have taken a really hard blow to the head—the windshield on the driver’s side was badly smashed in.” Arena found it difficult to reconcile Ted Kennedy’s appearance at the police station with that of the driver of a car in such an accident.


Before the car was hitched to Jon Ahlbum’s wrecker, Arena took from the glove compartment a leatherette folder containing the automobile’s registration, several maps and “personal effects,” and a lease for the rental of a cottage on Chappaquiddick to Joseph Gargan for ten days beginning July 10.


A New Hampshire news photographer and some-time Newsweek correspondent vacationing on Chappaquiddick, Jack Hubbard, had been alerted to the accident at Dike Bridge in time to shoot on-the-scene photographs of the car being dragged from Poucha Pond. Believing then it was strictly a local matter of no particular significance, Hubbard offered his roll of exposed film to Bob Hyde of the Standard-Times. An English teacher at Martha’s Vineyard regional high school, Hyde had ridden a bicycle to Dike Bridge to cover the story.


Hubbard wasn’t the only reporter on holiday in Edgartown. The crowd in front of town hall had grown considerably in the hour Arena was gone, and there were a number of journalists, indistinguishable from tourists and townspeople, who had stopped to find out what was going on.


Arena was dismayed to find James Reston, political columnist and executive editor of the New York Times, waiting to see him in the corridor. “I’d only just found out about the accident,” Arena said later. “And right off the bat I’ve got one of the most powerful newspapers in the country camped on my doorstep.”


Arena asked Reston to wait outside with other reporters.


A long-time summer resident of Edgartown, Reston had purchased the Vineyard Gazette in 1967. To Harvey Ewing, Reston appeared to be enjoying the role of police-beat reporter sniffing out a breaking story. “Reston was reverting to the style of an aggressive newshawk. He was a lot more excited than I thought he should be about the accident; but he was obviously putting things together faster than the rest of us were at this point.” Reston had slipped a note through Carmen Salvador asking Ted Kennedy to see him, and stationed a reporter at the back door of town hall to prevent the Senator from eluding the press. To Ewing he said, “We want to see if we can catch him before he gets away.”


Arena recognized Jack Crimmins standing in the corridor. Crimmins had chauffeured Ted Kennedy when Arena was assigned to Logan Airport in Boston as a state trooper.


When Arena walked into the town accountant’s office, Paul Markham was seated at a desk and Ted Kennedy was pacing.


The statement was “nearly finished,” Markham said.


Arena took the opportunity “to take a real close look” at Ted Kennedy. “I found it hard to believe the Senator had been in a major automobile accident. His face bore no traces of any marks. He never sat down or appeared in any kind of physical discomfort. If he had been injured, in shock, or confused, nothing of it lingered in our meeting, to my observation. But the Senator made it a point to tell me three times, without my asking, that he was the driver of the accident car. It was as though he wanted to make sure I got it right.” Arena could think of no reason why Ted Kennedy would admit to that if it were not true.


Arena was summoned to the police station to take a call from Robert Carroll, chairman of Edgartown’s Board of Selectmen. A real estate developer and entrepreneur chronically embroiled in controversies with local planning boards, Carroll was a fervent Kennedy supporter. He said, “I understand somebody went off a bridge in Teddy Kennedy’s car.”


“Yeah,” Arena said. “And the worst of it is, Ted was driving.”


“Oh, Jesus!” Carroll said. “If there’s anything I can do to help, let me know.”


Markham came into Arena’s office with the accident report. Since Arena wasn’t sure he could read Markham s writing, he said. “Do you mind if I have this typed?”


Markham thought that was a good idea.


Arena intended to have Carmen Salvador transcribe the two pages, but she was busy answering the station’s two telephones. Arena sat at his desk to type the statement himself. He had no difficulty deciphering the spiky scrawl, complete with cross-outs and write-overs with which Markham had transcribed the Senator’s dictation. But what Arena read astounded him. No wonder Ted Kennedy was showing no ill effects from the accident. According to his verbatim report, the accident had occurred more than ten hours ago:





On July 18, 1969, at approximately 11:15 P.M. in Chappaquiddick, Martha’s Vineyard, Massachusetts, I was driving my car on Main Street on my way to get the ferry back to Edgartown. I was unfamiliar with the road and turned right onto Dike Road, instead of bearing hard left on Main Street. After proceeding for approximately one-half mile on Dike Road I descended a hill and came upon a narrow bridge. The car went off the side of the bridge. There was one passenger with me, one Miss Mary ——————————————————, a former secretary of my brother Sen. Robert Kennedy. The car turned over and sank into the water and landed with the roof resting on the bottom.


       I attempted to open the door and the window of the car but have no recollection of how I got out of the car. I came to the surface and then repeatedly dove down to the car in an attempt to see if the passenger was still in the car. I was unsuccessful in the attempt. I was exhausted and in a state of shock.


       I recall walking back to where my friends were eating. There was a car parked in front of the cottage and I climbed into the back seat. I then asked for someone to bring me back to Edgartown. I remember walking around for a period and then going back to my hotel room. When I fully realized what had happened this morning, I immediately contacted the police.


Arena left his office with the typed statement. Walter Steele was standing in the corridor. Skinny, balding, owlish in appearance behind thick glasses, Steele had not yet logged two months as a special prosecutor. Steele’s curiosity had been aroused by the crowd gathered outside town hall. Amazed to see the usually-impeccable police chief barefoot, wearing a damp T-shirt and swim trunks, Steele wanted to know, “What the hell is going on?”


Arena nodded toward the door of the town accountant’s office. “Ted Kennedy’s in there,” he said, suggesting Steele stick around. “I might need you later.”


Arena gave Ted Kennedy a copy of the statement. He retained a carbon to check over for typing mistakes.


Kennedy read the statement in silence. “OK,” he said. Then, “We are trying to get a hold of Burke Marshall.”


Markham described Marshall as “a Kennedy family lawyer.”


The Senator wanted the statement looked over by his attorney before it became “part of the record,” he said. “Could you please hold it until I talk to Burke Marshall?”


Arena had some questions he wanted to ask, principally about the long delay in reporting the accident.


Markham assured him, “The Senator will answer questions after he has consulted his attorney.”


That Kennedy asked to talk to a lawyer seemed “a reasonable request” to Arena. “I figured Kennedy would be eager to clear the matter up.” Arena agreed to hold the statement and forego further questions, a decision he would come to regret as “something of a low point in my particular case.”


Arena asked to see Ted Kennedy’s driver’s license.


The Senator didn’t have it with him, he said. “I can’t find my wallet.”


Arena wanted to know if the license had been “properly renewed.”


Kennedy was “sure” it had been.


Massachusetts law required every driver to have a license “upon his person” or in some easily accessible place for presentation after an accident. Police could arrest without warrant and keep in custody for 24 hours any person operating a motor vehicle who did not have a license in his possession. The Senator’s inability to produce a license was in clear violation of the law.


Arena gave no thought to pressing the charge. “A lot of guys forget their license when they change pants,” he said. As a state trooper, Arena told drivers without licenses to report to the nearest police station. If they failed to show up or couldn’t produce a valid license, he then issued a citation.


In Kennedy’s case, Arena was bending enforcement to a breaking point. Possession of a license was required only when “actually engaged in operating a motor vehicle,” Arena said. “There’s nothing in the law that requires a driver to have his license on him when he walks into a police station to report an accident.”


The lack of a license, combined with the delay in reporting the accident, unexplained by the statement it had taken Senator Kennedy more than an hour to compose, were unwished-for complications in an accident Arena had thought he could handle as “a routine traffic case.” He was anxious to discharge the statutory requirement to report the fatality to the district attorney’s office.


But Arena was reluctant to contact Edmund Dinis in New Bedford. Instead, he called State Police Detective Lieutenant George Killen, chief investigator for the district attorney’s office on Cape Cod.


Killen didn’t have much to say when Arena reported Senator Ted Kennedy had been the driver in a fatal automobile accident. He did offer the “assistance” of the district attorney’s office, if Arena wanted it. Arena didn’t. The Senator had given him a statement. Arena and a registry inspector were conducting an investigation.


Steele caught a glimpse of Ted Kennedy when Arena left the town accountant’s office. He was gratified the Senator waved, apparently remembering their days together at the Suffolk County District Attorney’s office. Fresh from law school, Kennedy had been paid $1.00 a year as an assistant district attorney. The caseload for assistants was back-breaking, but Kennedy had handled no more than a dozen prosecutions in his year of employment. He had argued one case in court. Kennedy spent most of his time giving speeches all over Massachusetts, preparing to run for office.


After 14 years as an assistant district attorney, Steele resigned only two months before to devote himself to private practice and the newly created position of special prosecutor for Dukes County District Court.


Steele spotted District Court Clerk Tommy Teller entering the town hall. Teller had learned about the accident from his brother-in-law, “Huck” Look. Teller said, “Jesus, Walter! Ted Kennedy’s in big trouble. I heard he was driving a car that was in a bad accident.”


Steele walked into the police station to have Arena corroborate Teller’s story and recognized Paul Markham seated on a bench across from Carmen Salvador’s desk. Steele said to him, “How are you?”


Clearly, Markham wasn’t very well. Red-eyed, his face drawn with exhaustion, Markham looked like he’d had a rough night. He stood up and abruptly announced, “I’m going over to the Shiretown Inn.”


Steele volunteered to go with him.


There was about Markham s craggy good looks an air of such anguish that Steele’s curiosity about the accident was momentarily subdued. Highly regarded in Boston legal circles, Markham had resigned as U.S. Attorney for Massachusetts in April and was rumored to be in line for a judgeship.


Markham was silent the two blocks to the Shiretown Inn, a shabby-genteel establishment of two nondescript houses connected by a brick courtyard. An outside stairway led to a second-floor porch and a meager room with scant furnishings. Markham collected various articles to stuff into a canvas bag. By the time he had returned to town hall, Steele had pieced together from Markham’s muttered half-sentence responses to his tentative questions an incredible story: Ted Kennedy had driven a car off Dike Bridge. He had escaped the accident uninjured, but a young woman accompanying him had drowned. The accident had gone unreported for more than nine hours.


Steele was astonished “Jesus Christ, Paul!”


“I know,” Markham said.


Steele suggested, “There might be a problem.” Arena was a decent man, a fair-minded chief of police. But the district attorney with jurisdiction over the case was Edmund Dinis, an ambitious politician with a demonstrated penchant for publicity, Steele said. “He can be a pretty intractable guy.”


Senator Kennedy was sequestered in Arena’s office with Registry Inspectors George Kennedy and Robert Molla. After formally introducing himself, Inspector Kennedy read from a Miranda card of rights: “You have the right to remain silent. Anything you say can and will be used against you in a court of law. You have the right to talk to a lawyer and have him represent you while you are being questioned. If you cannot afford to hire a lawyer, one will be appointed to represent you before any questioning, if you want one.”


The Senator listened glumly to the recitation usually given prior to an interrogation. He said he understood his rights.


Inspector Kennedy asked for the Senator’s driver’s license and registration.


The Senator thought the registration was in the accident car. He didn’t have his license with him, he said. “Sometimes I leave it in my car in Washington, because I own two cars. I will place a call for you immediately and see if I didn’t leave it there.”


Kennedy called his Senate office in Washington. He asked his administrative aide, David Burke, to see if the license had been left in the other car, and to provide the complete name, address and date of birth for Mary Jo Kopechne required for the registry’s report of the accident.


Inspector Kennedy read over the Senator’s statement. He said, “I would like to know about something.”


“I have nothing more to say!” the Senator said, brusquely. “I have no comment.”


Markham assured Inspector Kennedy, “The Senator will make a further statement after he has contacted his lawyer.”


Inspector Kennedy did not insist on asking questions about the accident in order to make a report. The Senator had let him know in no uncertain terms he had no intention of saying more. The cool manner the Senator had maintained throughout the three hours he had spent at the police station was beginning to unravel. The Senator was anxious to leave the premises. Markham was calling air charter services seeking to book a flight to Hyannis.


Arena called Robert Carroll, a licensed pilot who owned a Piper Commanche. “Can you fly the Senator to Hyannis?” Arena asked. “One of the motor vehicle guys is going to use his own car to drive him to the airport.”


Carroll agreed to leave his office at once.


Senator Kennedy was fretful about reporters Carmen Salvador told him were waiting outside the police station to see him. Arena was sympathetic to Kennedy’s dilemma. He wasn’t looking forward to meeting the press himself, but for the Senator, Arena provided an escape route that would allow him to evade reporters. Clearing the corridor of “unauthorized personnel,” Arena led Kennedy and Markham to a utility room in the rear of the building. A door provided access to a parking lot.


Bob Hyde of the Standard-Times was standing vigil outside the door when Kennedy dashed for Registry Inspector Robert Molla’s unmarked Plymouth. He tried to get a statement, but Kennedy wouldn’t say anything. The Senator appeared “very shook,” Hyde observed. “He looked like the wrath of God.”


En route to the airport Kennedy muttered, “Oh my God, what has happened? What has happened?”


He repeated the phrase during an uneventful ten-minute flight to Hyannis airport.


Carroll taxied the plane to a parking area without waiting for directives from lineboy John Celentano. The passenger-side door opened and Ted Kennedy climbed out, drenched in perspiration. Kennedy walked, then jogged to a car parked near the runway’s tarmac. Celentano thought he looked “in a semi-state of shock.”









Chapter 5


ARENA TOLD REPORTERS ALLOWED INTO THE CORRIDOR HE could not release a statement about the accident from Senator Kennedy until he received permission.


Furious that police had collaborated with the Senator to avoid confronting reporters, James Reston demanded the statement be released at once, with an accompanying story.


Arena politely declined to do so. He was bothered the victim’s last name had been left blank in the Senator’s report. The handbag he had brought back to the police station from the accident scene inspired the only investigative initiative Arena would find time to demonstrate in the escalating, pressurized atmosphere at town hall. It hadn’t seemed “out of line” for the handbag to be found in the accident car, since Rosemary Keough was identified as a Senate employee. “That kind of lulled me into thinking she was just one of Kennedy’s crew,” Arena said. “That maybe here’s a bunch of girls from Washington, and if Mary Jo was in the regatta group staying at the motel, then this other girl has got to know her.”


Arena called the Katama Shores Motor Inn and asked to speak to Rosemary Keough. “Basically, I wanted to find out how to spell Mary Jo’s last name, not what the handbag was doing in the car.”


Keough sounded wary and suspicious after Arena identified himself as chief of police. He overheard a muffled consultation going on at the other end of the line before Keough came back on to spell out Mary Jo Kopechne’s name. Keough was sending someone to the police station to pick up her handbag, she said.


Arena turned it over to a man “who looked reputable,” an hour later. He didn’t question him. “Maybe I gave it away too easy, but I figured he knew what bag to ask for. And there was nothing compromising in it.”


It didn’t occur to Arena until later that from the tremulous quaver in her voice, Rosemary Keough had known about the death of Mary Jo Kopechne. “She seemed very down in the dumps, like she knew what had happened. I’m thinking: ‘She’s way out at Katama, and I’m down here. How the hell does she know about the accident?’” But it was too late for Keough to be questioned. When Arena called the motel again, she had checked out.


Arena didn’t get to question Jack Crimmins either. He wasn’t sure what Ted Kennedy’s driver was doing hanging around the police station after the Senator left. “I thought maybe he’s with Ted and just waited around to see me, that maybe he was there to put the arm on me. To say: ‘Hey, go easy on the boss.’ Or did he want to tell me something.”


When Arena went out to the corridor looking for him, Crimmins was gone. Arena’s only source of information about the accident was Senator Kennedy’s report. And that statement “didn’t add up at all,” in Walter Steele’s opinion. The “wrong turn” was particularly contradictory. Kennedy was familiar enough with the geography of Chappaquiddick to know to bear left instead of turning right on Dike Road—properly identified in his report—if he were going to the ferry. Yet he’d made the turn anyway. The Senator’s approximation of the distance from the Main Street intersection to Dike Bridge was right on the money. Questionable too, was the “shock and exhaustion” Kennedy said he’d suffered after the accident. The Senator had not sought medical attention after the accident nor did he appear to be injured at the police station—factors which combined to suggest that the Senator may have tried to avoid responsibility by delaying his report. As it was, Kennedy hadn’t done so until after the accident was discovered and a body been recovered from his car. Unless there were mitigating circumstances to account for the ten-hour delay, Arena had no choice but to seek a complaint against Ted Kennedy for leaving the scene of an accident, Steele said. “That’s all you can do. The statement is in clear violation of the statute.”


That Arena had been asked to hold the statement until it had been “cleared” by Burke Marshall, Steele thought, was utterly foolhardy.


“You can’t release this to the press! It’s a goddamn confession for Christ sake.” Any lawyer advising Ted Kennedy was likely to be calling up any minute to say not to release anything, Steele said. “They can’t want this made public.”


Steele wanted to know if the district attorney’s office had been notified about the fatal accident.


Arena said he’d called George Killen.


“The statute says you have to notify the district attorney,” Steele said. “Let’s not take any chances with that son of a bitch.”


Reluctantly, Arena called Edmund Dinis in New Bedford. He recited only that portion of Kennedy’s statement in which the Senator had admitted to driving the car.


Dinis didn’t take it very well. “We’re in this case right now!” he shouted. “He’s all done; he’s gone!”


“Jesus!” Arena said when Dinis hung up. “I don’t know what’s going on. It sounds to me like he’s coming into the case.”


Dinis had authority to take over any investigation within his district merely by announcing his intention to do so.


Before Arena could absorb the implications of the conversation with Dinis, the telephone rang again. George Killen said, “This is just a motor vehicles case. You must have had a hundred of these damned things when you were with the state police. You don’t need our help.” Killen once again offered the “assistance” of the district attorney’s office, but he made it clear, “It’s your case.”


What was even clearer was that Dinis had talked to his chief investigator on Cape Cod and Killen had cooled the district attorney’s ardor about taking over. Arena said, “Killen was right in some respects to think this was a state trooper kind of thing, knowing my experience as a highway cop. It wasn’t the classic kind of case you called the district attorney’s office about. My reaction was, with somebody like Ted Kennedy mixed up in it, if I didn’t let Dinis know about the accident, he’d go apeshit.”


In 1967, Dinis had proclaimed, “On Cape Cod I depend heavily on Lieutenant George Killen. He is one of the most outstanding police officers in the country today. He speaks for me. I trust him with my life.”


As senior officer responsible for the investigation and prosecution of all criminal matters on Cape Cod and the islands of Martha’s Vineyard and Nantucket, Killen had achieved near-legendary status. Tall, dapper, with great dignity of bearing, Killen’s monumental reserve enhanced a strict adherence to the highest standards of rectitude in the investigation and preparation of cases for prosecution in Barnstable Superior Court. Killen deployed a small investigative staff with the skills of a field general. Lately, his office had been swamped with cases. “It seemed every time the telephone rang it was somebody else telling me: ‘I got a body.’”


Killen was winding down the investigation of the most sensational murder case in Cape Cod history. Under arrest for killing four young women whose mutilated bodies were found buried in Truro woods was Antone Costa of Province town. Killen gave the major credit for breaking the complex case to Lieutenant Bernie Flynn, a veteran detective assigned to his office in 1967.


A former New Bedford police officer who had placed first on the state police examination, Flynn was given the choice of assignment to the district attorney’s office in New Bedford or Barnstable courthouse. Flynn jumped at the chance to work on Cape Cod.


Killen tracked Flynn to the Falmouth Country Club, and had him paged off the greens.


“There’s been an accident,” Killen announced portentously.


“An accident?” Flynn said. “For Christ sakes, we don’t investigate accidents.”


“We’ll investigate this one,” Killen said. “It’s Ted Kennedy. You better get over to Edgartown and see what the hell is going on.”


Killen also contacted the state police barracks in Oak Bluffs about an autopsy request made by Associate Medical Examiner Donald Mills.


Mills was attending a patient when officer Robert Lucas called with a message from Killen: If Mills was satisfied with his diagnosis and there was no evidence of foul play, no autopsy was necessary. Should Mills care to discuss the matter further, he could reach Killen at home.


Mills was “perfectly satisfied with Lieutenant Killen’s decision,” he said when he instructed Eugene Frieh to go ahead with embalming. Killen had suggested a blood specimen be taken for identification and analysis.


Then, Mills put the accident at Chappaquiddick out of his mind. “I couldn’t give it any more thought at the time,” he said. Mills had a baby to deliver at Oak Bluffs hospital.


Frieh was surprised no autopsy had been ordered in the case. “I figured there should have been one for three reasons: the type of accident it was; the important people involved; and the fact that insurance companies would be hounding officials over double indemnity claims.”


Frieh and his assistant undressed the body in a basement preparation room. A blood sample was drawn from the left armpit. As was customary in drowning cases, a body block was affixed under the diaphragm. From abdominal compression, Frieh observed “a very slight bit of moisture and a slight bit of froth of a pinkish hue.” He estimated it to be less than a tea-cup. “I did raise an eyebrow in the sense that I was expecting much more moisture.”


Frieh examined the scalp when he shampooed salt water and sea weed from the victim’s hair. Because the car had gone over a bridge, Frieh wondered if there might be some injury Dr. Mills had overlooked during his brief on-scene examination. Frieh discovered no bruises or marks on the body, except for a slight abrasion on the left-hand knuckle.


After washing the body with a solution of germicidal soap and spray-rinsing it, Frieh cleaned all body orifices with an astringent. But, he put off embalming because he still expected Dr. Mills to change his mind about wanting an autopsy.


Frieh held everything in abeyance, awaiting identification of the body and specific instructions from the deceased’s family when he received a call from the Kielty Funeral Home of Plymouth, Pennsylvania. John Kielty had been authorized by Mrs. Joseph Kopechne to take charge of funeral arrangements. Frieh was told to prepare the remains and forward the body to Pennsylvania as quickly as possible.


Kielty provided the vital statistics Frieh needed to make out a death certificate. The accident victim was Mary Jo Kopechne of 2921 Olive Avenue, N.W. Washington, D.C., born in Wilkes-Barre, PA, on July 26, 1940. She was formerly employed as a secretary to the late Senator Robert Kennedy. The information had been supplied by the victim’s mother. She described her daughter as 5’4”, 110 pounds, Roman Catholic and “being maiden.”


Frieh used a trocar—a large, hollow needle—attached to a vacuum motor to penetrate the abdominal wall, pelvic area and heart spaces to remove excess body fluids that might be detrimental to good embalming. Sixteen ounces of formalin were inserted into the trunk; then an additional 16 ounces on aspiration. Frieh’s assistant did the embalming under his supervision. Frieh carefully recorded all procedures “to keep ourselves refreshed in case we had to be questioned,” he said, later. “We knew we had a hot cookie on our hands.”









Chapter 6


AT 2:15 P.M., ARENA LOGGED ANOTHER CALL FROM GEORGE Killen. Concerned about an autopsy request from Dr. Mills, Killen wanted Arena’s opinion because he’d been at the accident scene when the body was recovered.


“That’s up to the medical examiner, it’s not my say-so,” Arena said. He saw no reason to question the finding of death by drowning. “To the best of my observation, nothing else was wrong.”


Killen was satisfied to leave the case in Arena’s hands. He said, “You’ve got a tiger by the tail, Jim. But I’m sure you can handle it.”


Arena was still waiting for permission to release Senator Kennedy’s statement to an increasingly impatient corps of reporters standing outside the police station when CBS News correspondent Ben Silver and a television crew invaded his office. An aggressive, take-over reporter, Silver brushed aside Arena’s protests in his determination to interview the police chief.


Francis Broadhurst noticed more reporters were packing into the hot and airless corridor, when he arrived at town hall. Cape Cod stringer for the Boston Herald Traveler, Broadhurst received word around 9 o’clock that one of Ted Kennedy’s secretaries had been killed on Martha’s Vineyard. He took the Island Queen out of Falmouth for Oak Bluffs and hailed taxi-operator, Christopher Look, Sr., on the dock.


“You here on the Kennedy thing?” Look said en route to Edgartown. Look suggested Broadhurst talk to his son. “He knows a lot about it.”


Look pulled up to a curb on Main Street when he spotted his son on the sidewalk. After introducing him to Broadhurst, he said, “Now, tell him what you told me about the accident over at Chappy.”


Recognizing Broadhurst as a reporter, “Huck” Look backed away. He said, “I’m not saying a goddamned word!”


Look joined a group of locals near the courthouse that included Edgartown attorney Dick McCarron. Look appeared so solemn during the discussion about an accident at Dike Bridge, McCarron asked him, “What do you know about all this, ‘Huck’?”


“More than I want to know,” Look said. But he wouldn’t say anything else.


“You ought to go down and talk to young Farrar,” Look, Sr., suggested when Broadhurst got out of his taxi. The first reporter to talk to the diver who had recovered the body from Poucha Pond, Broadhurst was impressed by the good-looking, muscular man, just returned to the Turf ’n’ Tackle from Chappaquiddick. Farrar had been diving since he was 15 and was a real enthusiast, technically knowledgeable and articulate to the point of compulsion about his specialty. Farrar was eager to discuss the recovery of the body he’d found in eight feet of water in the back seat of Senator Kennedy’s Oldsmobile.


“She was in, what I call, a very conscious position,” Farrar said. “Her head was at the floorboards where the last bit of air would have been. It seems likely she was holding herself into a pocket of air to breathe.” There had been no air in the car when Farrar reached the body. “If an air bubble had been there earlier, her moving about would have dispersed it. But, she could have been alive a good while after the car went off the bridge.” How long, Farrar couldn’t say. He’d read about persons trapped in submerged automobiles who had survived up to five hours by breathing a pocket of air. If he’d been called soon after the accident, Farrar thought, “There was a good chance the girl could have been saved.”


At town hall, Broadhurst was told by Bob D’Orio, a Herald Traveler reporter flown from Boston with press photographer Jimmy O’Callahan, a big story was about to come out of Arena’s closed-door police station: Ted Kennedy was rumored to be the driver of a car in which a young secretary had been killed.


A woman in the corridor Broadhurst didn’t know said to him, “This won’t see the light of day. This will all be covered up.”


But word of the accident was beginning to seep out. The Cape Cod Standard-Times was delivering to subscribers a front-page bulletin supplied by its parent paper in New Bedford from a story Harvey Ewing had filed to beat a one o’clock deadline:





BULLETIN


       Edgartown. The body of a young woman believed to be a secretary for Senator Edward M. Kennedy was recovered from the waters of Chappaquiddick Island following an auto accident.


       It was not immediately determined if the woman was alone in the car. Some members of the Kennedy family are on the island for the annual Edgartown Regatta.


Another report of the accident was spreading the news farther away. At 2:45 P.M., an “urgent” message addressed to The Director was put on the FBI teletype in Boston:





On this date, Dominick J. Arena, Chief of Police Edgartown, Martha’s Vineyard, Mass., advised body of female found in overturned car in water.


       Tentatively identified as above was secretary to former Senator Robert F. Kennedy. Chief Arena confidentially states that driver of automobile was Senator Edward M. Kennedy who was uninjured. Stated fact Senator Kennedy was driver is not being revealed to anyone.









Chapter 7


BERNIE FLYNN WAS AMAZED AT THE SCENE OF CONFUSION AT Edgartown police station when he greeted a harried Arena. Arena wasn’t surprised to see a representative of the district attorney’s office inasmuch as he had talked to Killen. And, Bernie Flynn observed, “He was probably relieved. Like, if anything too heavy comes up, the D. A.’s office is there to take the weight off his shoulders. That’s the usual reaction a local police chief has that’s on to something big. He’s thinking: ‘This is where I can get off the hook.’ Until that happens, he’s going to handle it.”


Flynn read over Ted Kennedy’s report of the accident. “Personally, I thought it was bullshit,” he said, later. Flynn kept his disbelief to himself. “As far as I’m concerned it’s an automobile accident; I’m not involved. I’m there so Dinis can say: ‘Somebody from my office is on the case.’ Only we aren’t on the case. Nobody said, ‘Let’s go and investigate this thing. Why don’t we take over?’ So I’m standing in the background; I don’t want to get in the way of Arena’s game plan. I backed off and let him run it.”


Flynn was careful to avoid displaying his presence too conspicuously to local reporters who might recognize him. He went to the small district attorney’s office maintained at Edgartown’s courthouse. Flynn had “no emergency” to report to Killen. In his judgment, the case wouldn’t amount to anything. Flynn doubted Ted Kennedy would even be brought to court on a charge of leaving the scene, “Because he’d covered himself in the report saying he was exhausted, and in a state of shock. The law was vague on how long you had to report an accident. And Kennedy did, finally, report the thing.”


In Flynn’s opinion, “Arena was in way over his head. My impression was he wanted to help Ted Kennedy but he didn’t know how to go about it. He didn’t know what the hell to do with the case. He was trying to get out of doing anything.”


George Killen wasn’t anxious to do anything about the case either, or so it appeared when Walter Steele called him. Steele had reviewed the medical examiner statutes, he said. “Maybe we should think about doing an autopsy. You know what they say: ‘When in doubt, do an autopsy.’” The diagnosis of drowning had been assumed because the body of Mary Jo Kopechne was found in a submerged automobile. That method of drowning was “sensitive” to misinterpretation.


Killen wasn’t enthusiastic about the idea. Dr. Mills was satisfied there was no evidence of foul play in the death. Steele abruptly ended the conversation, telling Arena, “OK, we’ve covered all bases. The D.A.’s been notified; an autopsy has been suggested. It’s our case to do with what we think best.”


Steele was unhappy at the direction the case was taking. “Kennedy isn’t being very nice to us, leaving a statement then taking off,” he said. “It’s a terrible position he’s put us in. We’ve got a motor vehicle death here, and he’s left us holding the bag. He’s almost forcing us to charge him with leaving the scene.”


Arena was mystified why he had not yet received permission to release the statement. The press had grown clamorous in the corridor. Arena didn’t blame them. The accident begged more answers than the Senator’s report supplied. Arena had a number of questions he wanted to ask Ted Kennedy himself, and regretted now he hadn’t. “If everything had been clicking, I would have interrogated him more thoroughly,” Arena said later. “But unfortunately, at the time, there was so much confusion. And I was laboring under the idea that it wasn’t going to end when he left the police station. I told myself, ‘We’ll be following up on this thing. Everything’ll ultimately come out. We’ll clear everything up!’”


When Arena went out to the corridor to soothe the impatience of reporters, James Reston was the most insistent that the Kennedy statement be released. The accident was a matter of public record to which the press was entitled to have information. Reston suggested Arena was being “uncooperative.”


Arena went back to his office to consult Steele. “They want the statement,” he said. “It’s been more than three hours. Nobody’s called me. I’m going to release it.”


Steele cautioned Arena to hold off. The statement contained an admission of guilt that could be prejudicial to Kennedy’s case. If Arena released it, the Senator would have a constitutional defense. “He can say he can’t get a fair trial because of the publicity you created by giving his statement to the press.”


Arena thought it over. He didn’t think an automobile accident was likely to have constitutional issues attached. The Senator had known reporters were outside town hall waiting to talk to him when he sneaked out the back way. Kennedy expected the statement to be made public.


Arena went into the corridor. He signalled for the attention of reporters. He said, “Senator Kennedy has given me the following statement.”


Arena was asked to read the statement a second time so reporters could take it all down. He was in the midst of a third recitation when he was called into the police station. Paul Markham was on the phone.


Markham said, “Chief, we haven’t been able to get a hold of Burke Marshall. Could I ask you to hold up the statement a little bit longer?”


“I’m sorry,” Arena said. “I’ve already released it.”


“Oh, Jesus!” Markham said.


“Well, I had to. It’s been too long a period of time. What did you expect me to do with people beating on my door?” Arena held on to his equanimity. The medical examiner had diagnosed death by accidental drowning, Arena said. “I’m treating it strictly as a motor vehicles investigation, that’s all.”


Markham hung up before Arena could ask when Senator Kennedy expected to get back to him to answer more questions as he had promised to do.


Arena had little beyond the statement to give reporters. The Senator had been “cooperative” considering the strain he was under, Arena said. “He must have been in a state of shock after the accident.”


Arena’s own efforts to dive against the strong tidal current in Poucha Pond had exhausted him, he said. “And I think I’m a pretty good swimmer.”


Steele sidled up to the police chief. “Don’t do any more talking,” he said.


On his way home, where he maintained the bureau’s office, Harvey Ewing recollected his observations of Senator Kennedy at the Edgartown dock: “I’d watched him closely and his movements were completely normal. My impression was, he looked in good shape. At that point I didn’t know he had been the driver of the car or had done all the things he said he did in the statement—it was a complete mystery to me, the more I thought about it. The biggest mystery was: What the hell had he been doing for ten hours until he reported the accident?”


To add to the puzzle, Ewing’s son reported he’d taken Ted Kennedy over and back on the On Time and asked him if he knew about the accident an hour before the Senator reported it. Obviously, Ted Kennedy had not, as he had said, “immediately contacted the police.”


Not that such incidents were unheard-of during Regatta weekends. A unique sailing event, the Regatta was also something of a trial for Edgartowners. An invasion of sailors multiplied opportunities for the kind of high-spirited mischief that was as much a part of the event as the races themselves. Ewing knew from experience, “You could count on at least a dozen people getting into trouble during most Regatta weekends. Minor stuff, like drunk and disorderly, assaults, and sleeping on the beach.”


The accident at Chappaquiddick went beyond the standard rowdiness of Race Week, however. Ewing’s paper was sending a reporter from New Bedford to work with him on a major story for Sunday’s edition.


Ewing set about gathering details on the accident. “Basically, it was Ted Kennedy had driven a car off a bridge and some woman is dead. The larger implications of the accident hadn’t registered yet.” Ewing had no idea whether Kennedy could be cited for negligent operation or driving to endanger. “That,” he thought to himself, “was left up in the air.” Arena had said nothing about filing charges.


Ewing was also serving a number of small radio stations as correspondent. “They wanted anything I could give them, a voice on the scene.” He used the same copy for an hour or so, “Then, if I heard something new I thought was important, I’d add it and delete something else.” Ewing was picking up tidbits from out-of-town reporters who had turned his dining room into an improvised press headquarters, sharing what little information there was about the story. One of the first to arrive at Ewing’s house was Cornelius Hurley of the Boston bureau of the Associated Press. Hurley had enjoyed privileged access to the Kennedys for years. He was able to reach a source at the compound in Hyannis Port who asked not to be identified. Hurley was told Senator Kennedy “was still in a state of shock and unable to hold a press conference to discuss the accident.”









Chapter 8


IN FALMOUTH, JIMMY SMITH HAD WAITED ANXIOUSLY FOR further reports from Dick Ferry about the accident at Chappaquiddick. A second call confirmed a fatality was involved, but the identities of neither the victim nor the driver of the car were known.


Around three o’clock, Ferry called to say that Ted Kennedy had been identified as the driver of the accident car. Ferry didn’t know what charges, if any, were to be lodged against the Senator by Edgartown police.


Smith was stunned. He had spent most of his boyhood in Martha’s Vineyard when his father worked for the phone company. He knew the island mentality well. “All my relatives over there hated the Kennedys. It was the old prejudice against Irish Catholics.” Smith feared the consequences of a Kennedy accident occurring “in enemy territory.”


Smith called Kenneth O’Donnell.


O’Donnell knew only what Smith had told him about the incident, he said. “I haven’t been called.”


The first thing anybody advising Ted Kennedy should find out was who the registry inspector handling the case was. Smith said, “It’s a fatal, so you’ve got to have a registry guy there making out a report in addition to the Edgartown police. That’s the key guy right there on any reckless driving charge.”


Smith didn’t know any registry people on Martha’s Vineyard, but he did know Joe Greelish, who ran the Hyannis office. It was no secret registry problems could be “fixed” on Cape Cod, Smith said. “Before Frank Keating came to town Falmouth lawyers couldn’t tie their own shoelaces on traffic cases. If you had a license problem you gave Hank Jonah two hundred dollars and that usually took care of it.” Jonah ran a bookie operation out of the Leeside Cafe in Woods Hole. Jonah and Greelish were very close friends.


Greelish was a savvy operator, politically well-connected. In September 1966, he had sought Smith’s assistance in securing a post-mastership at South Yarmouth on Cape Cod for his son. Smith recommended “a Democrat and a very deserving young man” to Ted Kennedy’s office. Greelish had been badgering Smith about the appointment ever since.


O’Donnell told Smith to “keep in touch.” If Smith couldn’t reach him, O’Donnell suggested he contact his aide, Paul Kirk, Jr. Recently hired as counsel to a Senate sub-committee on administrative practices and procedures chaired by Ted Kennedy, Kirk was a natural pipeline for any information Smith might be able to provide from his strategic vantage point inside the district attorney’s office.


Smith didn’t call Edmund Dinis immediately. He thought about it for a while. He enjoyed good personal relations with the volatile and unpredictable district attorney. “He always acted like a teacher and a benefactor to me,” Smith said. “He treated me like his kid brother.” Despite his reputation, Dinis ran a four-county district with an able staff of assistants he left pretty much alone on cases. “That’s why Dinis was re-elected three times,” Smith said. “He ran a good shop.”


When Smith finally did call, Dinis cut off his breathless recitation of the “known facts” about the Kennedy accident. “I know all about it. I’ve already been called.”


But this demonstration of loyalty from the acknowledged “Kennedy man” on his staff put Dinis in teasing good humor. “We’ve got your buddy this time!” Dinis crowed. “We’re going to get an indictment off a first degree. We’re going to throw the book at him!”


Dinis let Smith dangle for a minute, then told him he was only kidding. “It’s just a motor vehicles accident,” he said. Dinis was content to leave the matter in the hands of Edgartown police, Smith reported to Paul Kirk.


Smith was confident the information would get passed along the Kennedy political network and eventually find its way to the compound at Hyannis Port.


But the Kennedy network had already been alerted to the crisis by the Senator himself. David Burke received the first call at Falls Church, Virginia, around 9:30 A.M. Kennedy was calling from a public phone at the ferry landing on Chappaquiddick to say he’d been in an automobile accident the previous evening. Despite the urging of his cousin Joe Gargan and Paul Markham, the accident had yet to be reported to the police. While he was fearful his car would soon be discovered in a tidal pond beside a bridge, Kennedy was still reluctant to go to the police.


The most admired of Kennedy’s staff, Burke was a Harvard graduate and the son of a Brookline, Massachusetts, policeman. Burke’s low, intensely urgent voice had battered down the last obstacle of Kennedy’s resistance, making him understand there was no alternative but to report the accident as Gargan and Markham wanted him to. “You’ve got to listen to those two guys and report this thing. Go and do it right now!”


Kennedy asked Burke to locate Burke Marshall, “stand by” at his senate office, and expect a deluge of inquiries about the accident.


Burke called the office to let press secretary Dick Drayne know, “The Boss went off a bridge on Martha’s Vineyard and one of Bobby’s secretaries got killed.”


Drayne was in the middle of a magazine interview.


“Anything wrong?” the interviewer asked.


“No, nothing really,” a shaken Drayne replied, reflexively voicing the first in a series of evasions and half-truths he would be required to deliver about the accident in the next several days.


When Senator Kennedy called the office, Drayne could tell, “He was very upset, very depressed. But he could still come up with answers.” Some of the answers were the stuff of which a major scandal could be made: The accident had occurred on a dirt road, late at night, following a party for a group of young women, and gone unreported for ten hours.


The Senator wanted no information about the accident given to the press. Drayne sat there all through the morning “waiting for the roof to fall in.” By the time reporters descended on his office, “The story was on the wires about a former Kennedy secretary getting drowned,” he said. “I knew what they didn’t, that he was driving the car. And I could only give them what was already public.”


Drayne was joined by Burke in the office to attempt to wrest some control over the exploding situation. The Senator had called several times from Edgartown’s police station where he was writing a report of the accident. Kennedy wanted the telephone number of the accident victim’s parents so they could be notified of her death. Burke came up with a number for Joseph and Gwen Kopechne in Berkeley Heights, New Jersey.


The Senator called Mrs. Kopechne around 10 o’clock. He asked to speak to her husband.


Gwen Kopechne sensed “a sorrow or sadness in the way his voice came over the telephone.”


Kennedy reported, “Mary Jo was in an accident.”


“Was it in a car?” Mrs. Kopechne asked.


“It was an automobile accident,” Kennedy said. “Mary Jo was returning to take a ferry back to the mainland when the accident occurred.”


Mrs. Kopechne asked if her daughter had been killed.


Kennedy hesitated, then said, “Yes.”


The Senator gave her no details, Mrs. Kopechne said, later. “He just told me what happened and I broke down. I remember screaming: I’m alone here.’ From then on, I don’t remember anything. I must have let out some awful noises. A neighbor was outside hanging clothes. I must have let her in because I had the doors locked. She tried to get me to tell her what happened.”


Burke Marshall was in Waltham, Massachusetts, that morning, preparing archives for a proposed John Fitzgerald Kennedy memorial library, when he got the call for help from Kennedy’s staff in Washington. A self-effacing man of incorruptible character and strong moral convictions, Marshall had been selected by Robert Kennedy to head the civil rights division of the Justice Department in 1961. Marshall had defused an explosive racial confrontation in Birmingham, Alabama, by negotiating an agreement to provide a measure of desegregation, following a campaign led by Martin Luther King to end discrimination in department stores and lunch counters. Of him, Robert Kennedy said, “Burke Marshall has the world’s best judgment on anything.”


Marshall agreed “to help wherever I can,” leaving at once for the two-hour drive to the Cape.


Marshall was already at the compound when Kennedy arrived from Edgartown “so upset . . . the question really was where to begin.” Marshall found him “obviously disoriented but he appeared coherent.” Kennedy said he hadn’t reported the accident for some ten hours because he was convinced Mary Jo Kopechne had somehow gotten out of the car and survived the accident. “I don’t think he shook that idea for a while,” Marshall said. After he was with the Senator for a time, Marshall came to the conclusion he’d suffered a “blockage,” he said. “A lot of his mind wasn’t accepting yet what was happening to him.”


Marshall read over a copy of the Senator’s accident report Markham brought back from Edgartown. An anti-trust lawyer, vice president and general counsel for IBM, Marshall was entirely ignorant of Massachusetts criminal codes and motor vehicle statutes. He needed time to consult lawyers experienced in those matters.


Marshall had Markham call Edgartown police chief Arena to postpone release of the accident report. The statement had been made public, Markham learned; but Arena appeared loath to press charges.


Marshall instructed the Senator not to answer any questions publicly or privately about the accident. “The reason I thought he shouldn’t make a statement to the press was that I didn’t know enough about his legal situation,” he said. In addition, Marshall was concerned that Kennedy could break down at a press conference, he said. He “truly did not know whether he might have a medical problem.”


Marshall advised Kennedy to see a doctor.


The Kennedy family physician on Cape Cod, Dr. Robert Watt, was summoned to Hyannis Port. The Senator told him he’d been in an automobile accident on Martha’s Vineyard. There was a lapse in his memory from hitting Dike Bridge and struggling to get out of the submerged car. At the last moment, he’d grabbed the side of an open window and pulled himself out. He remembered diving repeatedly to get a passenger out of the car, without success, going for help, and returning to the accident scene. Again, efforts to rescue the passenger failed. Kennedy was driven to the ferry slip and swam to Edgartown. Returning to his hotel room, he had slept fitfully until 7:00 A.M. the next morning.


Watt’s examination disclosed a half-inch scrape above the right ear, a bruise with spongy swelling at the top of the Senator’s head, and a muscle spasm in an area about the nape of the neck. He diagnosed: concussion, contusions and abrasion of the scalp and acute cervical strain. His determination of concussion was predicated “upon objective evidence of injury and the history of the temporary loss of consciousness and retrograde amnesia. Impairment of judgment and confused behavior are symptoms consistent with an injury of the character sustained by the patient.”


Watt prescribed a sedative to relieve the headache, neck pain and generalized soreness Senator Kennedy complained of. Later, criticized that sedation was contraindicated in cases of concussion, Watt said he’d been misquoted, “But I wouldn’t say he didn’t get a sedative.” Subsequently, Watt revealed he’d prescribed an oral muscle relaxant, heat and bed rest and qualified his diagnosis. Kennedy had sustained “a mild concussion, was bruised and shaken up.” He’d received a “blow on the head, but he was all right.”
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